STATE OF MICHIGAN  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

2 CROOKED CREEK LLC, an Indiana  
limited liability company, and  
RUSSIAN FERRO ALLOYS, INC., an  
Indiana corporation,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v

TREASURER OF THE COUNTY OF CASS,

Defendant-Appellee.

---

Michigan Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeals No. 342797

Court of Claims No. 14-000181-MZ

**APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL OF 2 CROOKED CREEK LLC  
AND RUSSIAN FERRO ALLOYS, INC.**

Cindy Rhodes Victor (P33613)  
KUS RYAN, PLLC  
2851 High Meadow Circle, Suite 120  
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48236  
(248) 364-3090

Tracy D. Knox (P51170)  
Aaron D. Lindstrom (P72916)  
*Counsel of Record*  
BARNES & THORNBERG LLP

## QUESTION PRESENTED

1. Does MCL 211.78~~l~~ allow the owner of a property interest that was extinguished by a tax-foreclosure judgment to bring an action for money damages if the foreclosing government provided the owner with constructive notice before the foreclosure, but not with actual notice?

Appellants' answer: Yes.

Appellee's answer: No.

Court of Claims' answer: No.

Court of Appeals' answer: No.

## STATUTE INVOLVED

### MCL 211.78I

- (1) If a judgment for foreclosure is entered under section 78k and all existing recorded and unrecorded interests in a parcel of property are extinguished as provided in section 78k, the owner of any extinguished recorded or unrecorded interest in that property who claims that he or she did not receive any notice required under this act shall not bring an action for possession of the property against any subsequent owner, but may only bring an action to recover monetary damages as provided in this section.
- (2) The court of claims has original and exclusive jurisdiction in any action to recover monetary damages under this section.
- (3) An action to recover monetary damages under this section shall not be brought more than 2 years after a judgment for foreclosure is entered under section 78k.
- (4) Any monetary damages recoverable under this section shall be determined as of the date a judgment for foreclosure is entered under section 78k and shall not exceed the fair market value of the interest in the property held by the person bringing the action under this section on that date, less any taxes, interest, penalties, and fees owed on the property as of that date.
- (5) The right to sue for monetary damages under this section is not transferable except by testate or intestate succession.

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The appellants, 2 Crooked Creek LLC and Russian Ferro Alloys, Inc., seek leave to appeal the March 14, 2019 decision of the Court of Appeals, App 2–19, which held that the owner of an extinguished property interest cannot bring an action for damages under MCL 211.78*l* if the government provided constructive notice of the foreclosure proceedings. This application is timely because the appellants filed a timely motion for reconsideration (on April 3, 2019), and the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration, App 38, on May 17, 2019. MCR 7.305(C)(2)(c).

This Court has jurisdiction by statute and court rule. MCL 600.215(3); MCR 7.303(B)(1).

## INTRODUCTION

It is a basic rule of statutory construction that statutes should be construed to give meaning to every single word. So what does that say about a decision that renders not just a single word as meaningless, but an entire statutory provision? Yet that is what happened here. The Court of Appeals adopted an interpretation that renders meaningless the more than 200 words of MCL 211.78*l*.

The Legislature wrote § 78*l* to address a specific problem: the entry of a tax-foreclosure judgment against a property owner without the owner having received any notice of the foreclosure proceedings. This action arises only in a specific context: § 78*l* applies *only after* a judgment of foreclosure has occurred, MCL 211.78*l*(1), and a judgment of foreclosure may occur in a constitutional manner (as the Legislature would know) *only if* the foreclosing government has provided the property owner with constructive notice—specifically, “notice reasonably calculated, under all circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and to afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” *Sidun v Wayne County Treasurer*, 481 Mich 503, 509 (2008) (“[D]ue process does not require that a property owner receive actual notice before the government may take his property.”); *Reed v Breton*, 475 Mich 531, 550 (2006) (“The Legislature is presumed to know the law.”). In other words, the Legislature created this cause of action precisely for instances in which the property owner *must* have already been afforded constructive notice. Yet the Court of Appeals interpreted § 78*l* to not apply if the property owner has been provided constructive notice.

This case warrants review for multiple reasons. It is jurisprudentially significant because it involves the interpretation of a state statute that applies to all tax foreclosures in Michigan. MCR 7.305(B)(3). Indeed, the Cass County Treasurer emphasized the importance and recurring nature of this question in her letter asking the Court of Appeals to publish its decision.

Further, the decision below is clearly erroneous—it defeats the Legislature’s intent to create a remedy that comes into play only after constructive notice has occurred, which shows the Legislature’s intent was to create a remedy for those who had not received actual notice. And this is particularly troubling because this Court has read the plain text of § 78*l* as applying in “those situations in which constitutional notice is provided, but the property owner does not receive *actual* notice.” *In re Petition of Treasurer of Wayne Co for Foreclosure*, 478 Mich 1, 10 (2007) (emphasis added); *id.* (“MCL 211.78*l* provides in such cases a damages remedy that is not constitutionally required.”). And it is troubling because the lower courts also dismissed a mortgage holder’s claims on the theory that because the mortgage was not recorded, the mortgage holder was not entitled to notice, despite the fact that § 78*l* expressly applies to “unrecorded” interests and the fact that § 78a(4) expressly requires that notice “shall” be given to “holders of undischarged mortgages.”

This clear error has caused material injustice, MCR 7.305(B)(5)(a): Cass County has taken a property worth \$3,500,000 from an owner who never received any notice of the foreclosure proceedings, and, after deducting the roughly \$15,000

in taxes owed, will keep all the excess from the tax sale. This Court should grant the application and reverse the Court of Appeals.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### **2CC buys a lakefront parcel and starts building a house**

In 2010, 2 Crooked Creek (2CC) bought a vacant parcel of land on Diamond Lake in Cass County. It purchased this lakefront property, located at 61320 Crooked Creek Road, for a substantial amount of money—for \$820,000. App 6. Its plan was to build a vacation home on the parcel for Sergei Antipov, who resides in Oak Brook, Illinois. Antipov is the owner and manager of Kava Management Company, LLC, which in turn is the manager of 2CC. App 6.

In the real-estate agreement, 2CC listed its company address as 36 Bradford Lane, Chicago, Illinois 60523, and the deed was recorded in July 2010 using that same address for 2CC. App 6. But this address contained an error: instead of Chicago, it should have said Oak Brook, as Antipov resided at the time at 36 Bradford Lane, Oak Brook, Illinois 60523. App 7 n 15.

In June 2011—over a year and a half before Cass County commenced foreclosure proceedings for the lakefront property in 2013—Antipov moved out of the Bradford Lane address to a different location in Oak Brook (50 Baybrook, Oak Brook, Illinois). App 10. Because he had his mail forwarded for a year, mail sent to the Bradford Lane address would have reached him through mid-2012. App 27.

By 2013, the registered agent's address for 2CC, identified in both the recorded real-estate agreement and the recorded deed as an Indiana company, could

be found in less than a minute in a search on the Indiana Secretary of State's online business entity database, as there was only one result for "2 Crooked Creek, LLC" in the database. (2CC Court of Appeals Brief, Exhibits J-14 & J-15; Tr. 174:8–11.)

### **Cass County begins sending foreclosure notices to 2CC**

In 2013, the Cass County Treasurer began tax-foreclosure proceedings on the lakefront property because 2CC had not paid its 2011 property taxes. App 21. The amount 2CC owed in property taxes was \$14,743.24. App 23.

Beginning in January 2013, the Treasurer, through her agent, Title Check, sent various notices to 2CC. App 21. Title Check sent a notice of forfeiture on January 14, 2013, by certified mail, to the Bradford Lane address. App 21. As already noted, Antipov had not lived at that address since June 2011 (a year and a half earlier), and the letter was returned marked "Unclaimed—Unable to Forward." App 21. Title Check also recorded a certificate of forfeiture (on April 12, 2013) and sent a notice—again to Antipov's old address—by first-class mail on May 5, 2013. App 21.

### **Russian Ferro Alloys takes a mortgage on the property**

As these events were transpiring, 2CC had been improving the property by building a home there, at a cost of almost \$2.6 million. App 27. The increased value of the property was reflected in a mortgage taken on the property for \$3,500,000 between Russian Ferro Alloys and 2CC's parent company, Kava Holdings, LLC. App 22.

With the construction of the house nearing completion, App 27, the mortgage agreement occurred on May 28, 2013. App 22. Just days later (on June 3), Title Check, as a part of the foreclosure proceedings, completed a title search on the property, finding only the deed and the real-estate agreement. App 22. Because the mortgage was not recorded until July 10, 2013, Russian Ferro Alloys' mortgage did not appear in that title search. App 22.

### **Cass County continues with foreclosure proceedings**

Cass County's agent, Title Check, continued attempting through various methods to notify 2CC of the tax-foreclosure proceedings.

A Title Check representative visited the lakefront property and posted a notice of a show-cause hearing and a judicial-foreclosure hearing by the property's front door. (2CC Court of Appeals Brief, Exhibit J-8.) The contractor who was building the house on the property, James Frye of Shoreline Development Co., saw the posted notice and then took it down. App 22, 34. While Frye attested that he contacted a representative of 2CC about the notice, both Antipov and Anderson attested that Frye did not contact either of them, and they were the only representatives of 2CC. App 22. (2CC has sued Frye for removing the notice and failing to inform it of the notice; an appeal in that case is also pending before the Court of Appeals, in *2 Crooked Creek LLC v Frye & Shoreline Development Co.*, No. 341274.)

In addition to the posted notice, Title Check also sent more notices to the Bradford Lane address. On August 20, 2013 (two years after Antipov moved from

that address), Title Check sent notice of the upcoming hearings to Bradford Lane by first-class mail. App 23. On December 6, 2013, it sent a notice to Bradford Lane by certified mail, which was again returned, this time “Refused—Unable to Forward.” App 23.

Title Check also published notices on December 19, 2013, on December 26, 2013, and January 2, 2014, in the *Cassopolis Vigilant*, a weekly newspaper circulated in Cass County. App 23.

When the February 18, 2014 hearing on the petition for foreclosure occurred, no one from 2CC appeared. Finding that the Treasurer had provided 2CC with constructive notice sufficient to satisfy due process through Title Check’s efforts at providing notice, the trial court entered a judgment of foreclosure, which provided that title in the foreclosed property would vest in Cass County, with no further right of redemption, unless the delinquent balance was paid by March 31, 2014. App 23–24.

### **2CC learns that it has lost title by tax foreclosure**

On April 18, 2014, over two weeks after the foreclosure had already become final, Title Check’s general manager (Martin Spaulding) called 2CC’s agent and asked if 2CC would be attending the auction for the property. App 24. This post-foreclosure telephone call was the first time 2CC learned about the foreclosure proceedings. App 24. Title Check was able to locate 2CC’s agent’s phone number, which raised the question why Title Check had not located and used that telephone number to contact Anderson between January 2013 and March 31, 2014, while the

foreclosure was not yet final. App 24. As Antipov later testified, “he would have paid the taxes because what was due was ‘nothing compared to the value of the property.’” App 27. Antipov’s testimony that he would have paid was confirmed by that fact that “he did remit the funds when he found out about it, but the check was returned as unaccepted.” App 27.

### PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Having lost a property it paid millions for as a result of failing to pay about \$15,000 in taxes, 2CC turned to the courts for relief.

#### **In a separate case, the Court of Appeals holds that the Treasurer gave 2CC and RFA constructive notice**

First, 2CC and RFA moved to set aside the judgment in Cass Circuit Court based on a deprivation of due process, but the trial court denied that motion, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. *In re Petition of Cass Cty Treasurer for Foreclosure*, No. 324519, 2016 WL 901700 (Mich Ct App, March 8, 2016). The Court of Appeals held that the minimum requirements of due process had been met, because the County had provided “notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” *Id.* at \*5, quoting *Sidun v Wayne County Treasurer*, 481 Mich 503, 509 (2008). The Court of Appeals reasoned that this constructive notice was sufficient, as “due process does not require that a property owner receive actual notice before the government may take his property.” *Id.*, quoting *Sidun*, 481 Mich at 509.

**In this case, the Court of Claims holds that constructive notice precludes relief under § 78l**

2CC and RFA also brought this case in the Court of Claims, seeking monetary damages under MCL 211.78l. Section 78l provides that “the owner of any extinguished recorded or unrecorded interest” in a foreclosed property “who claims that he or she did not receive any notice required under this act shall not bring an action for possession of the property against any subsequent owner, but may only bring an action to recover monetary damages as provided in this section.” In the Court of Claims, “Antipov testified that he never received any notice regarding the tax forfeiture or foreclosure—all of which was sent to 36 Bradford Lane—nor did he have any indication of the same.” App 11. Similarly, “Anderson testified that neither he nor [Russian Ferro Alloys] received notice of the foreclosure or tax delinquency, despite the fact that RFA held a mortgage interest in the property.” App 12.

Judge Talbot, sitting as a judge of the Court of Claims, held that § 78l did not provide relief to either 2CC or Russian Ferro Alloys. As to the latter, the court concluded that Russian Ferro Alloys was not entitled to any notice under the General Property Tax Act because it did not have an interest *recorded* before the date on which the certificate of forfeiture was recorded. App 13–14. The court did not address the fact that § 78l’s language expressly allows “the owner of any extinguished . . . *unrecorded* interest” to “bring an action to recover monetary damages as provided in this section.” MCL 211.78l (emphasis added). The court also did not address the plain language of § 78a, which requires that “[t]he county

treasurer *shall* notify the person or *holders of undischarged mortgages* if delinquent taxes on the property or properties are returned within that year.” MCL 211.78a(4) (emphasis added).

As to 2CC, the court did not credit Antipov’s testimony that he did not receive any notice because Antipov testified that he had received mail and property-tax bills for other properties despite his move. App 15. Though thus giving no weight to Antipov’s testimony denying that he received actual notice, the court did not cite any evidence affirmatively showing that Antipov had received actual notice. App 14–15. The court then concluded that the property owner had been given constructive notice: “Antipov and 2 Crooked Creek ‘received’ the notice that was posted on the property.” App 15; see also App 16 (“[T]he Court concludes that 2 Crooked Creek ‘received’ for purposes of MCL 211.78*l*, the notice posted on the property. . . . [T]he Court concludes plaintiff is *charged with* having received this duly executed notice under the statute.”) (emphasis added).

As to damages, the Court of Claims concluded that 2CC “failed to present any evidence of its damages”: “there is no testimony in the record that established the fair market value of 2 Crooked Creek’s interest in the property at the time of the foreclosure.” App 18. The Court did not think that Antipov’s testimony about purchasing the property for \$820,000 and then paying \$2.6 million to build the house on it counted as relevant evidence, even though Antipov testified that the value of the property with the new house (which was nearly complete in April 2014, i.e., within a month of the foreclosure) was \$3.5 million, and even though Anderson

also testified as to the value of the property, saying it was worth approximately \$3,420,000. (Tr. 121:15–18; Tr. 177:7–9.) This evidence was insufficient, according to the Court of Claims, because no one “offered any testimony concerning 2 Crooked Creek’s interest in the property at the time of foreclosure as that interest had been affected by the note and mortgage held by RFA, i.e., the equity held by 2 Crooked Creek or the value of the interest held.” App. 19.

**The Court of Appeals affirms and holds that § 78l does not apply when the government has provided constructive notice**

On appeal, RFA and 2CC argued that § 78l “requires that the owner of the interest in the property receive *actual* notice; constructive notice is insufficient.” App 29. The Court of Appeals disagreed. In its view, the Legislature’s decision to use the term “any” notice instead of the term “actual” notice meant that “any notice” referred to both constructive and actual notice. App 30. It concluded that “the Legislature did not intend to limit the notice referenced in MCL 211.78l to actual notice.” App 30. “Instead, when the Legislature stated that an owner must claim that it ‘did not receive any notice required under the act,’ it referred to the situation when an owner received no notice whatsoever.” App 30. The Court of Appeals addressed this Court’s statement in *In re Treasurer of Wayne County*, which observed that in “situations in which constitutional notice is provided, but the property owner does not receive actual notice,” “MCL 211.78l provides in such cases a damages remedy that is not constitutionally required.” 478 Mich at 10. But the

Court of Appeals concluded that this Court's reading of § 78l's plain language was dicta. App 31.

Summarizing its holding, the Court of Appeals held that "MCL 211.78l does not require a lack of actual notice, but a lack of any notice, meaning notice of any type or kind will suffice." App 36. And it rested its holding on its view that constructive notice was sufficient: "Here, where there was evidence in the record that the foreclosure notice was posted to the property during a time when 2CC was exercising control and dominion over the property by the building of a home, the trial court did not clearly err by charging 2CC with knowledge of the notice." App 36.

The Court of Appeals, like the Court of Claims, also concluded that RFA's failure to record its mortgage before the Treasurer's agent ran a title check meant that RFA was not entitled to notice. The Court of Appeals did not address § 78a(4)'s requirement that the Treasurer "shall notify" "holders of undischarged mortgages" of the return of delinquent taxes and did not address the fact that § 78l(1) applies to the owners of "unrecorded" interests, App 36–37, despite the fact that RFA raised both of these statutory-interpretation points in its brief. (2CC COA Brief, p 37 (explaining that the Court of Claims' "interpretation impermissibly reads the 'unrecorded interest in that property' language in MCL 211.78l(1) completely out of the statute" and quoting § 78a(4)'s notice requirement).) Also, the Court of Appeals did not rely on the Court of Claims' conclusion that 2CC had failed to present evidence of the fair market value of its interest at the time of foreclosure.

In their motion for reconsideration, 2CC and RFA pointed out that the Court of Appeal's reading of the statute turns MCL 211.78l into a dead letter. Section 78l applies only if there has already been a judgment of foreclosure entered, and a judgment of foreclosure may be constitutionally entered only if the foreclosing government has provided the property owner with at least constructive notice, so every individual to which § 78l applies will have been provided constructive notice, which means that § 78l will never do any work. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The proper interpretation of MCL 211.78l is an issue of jurisprudential significance and ongoing public importance.**

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