STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

**2 CROOKED CREEK, LLC, an
Indiana limited liability company, and
RUSSIAN FERRO ALLOYS. INC., an
Indiana Corporation,**

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v

TREASURER OF THE COUNTY OF CASS,

Defendant/Appellee.

Michigan Supreme Court No. 159856

Court of Appeals Case No. 342797

Court of Claims: 14-000181-MZ

CINDY RHODES VICTOR (P33613)

Kus Ryan, PLLC
2851 High Meadow Circle, Suite 120
Auburn Hills, Michigan 48326
(248) 364-3090
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant
2 Crooked Creek, LLC

TRACY D. KNOX (P51170)

ROBERT DEVETSKI (pro hac vice)

BRIAN E. CASEY (pro hac vice)

Barnes & Thornburg LLP
700 1st Source Bank Center
100 North Michigan

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

ARGUMENT

I. All Courts Hearing this Matter Correctly Held that the Treasurer gave Proper Notice to Crooked and that Crooked Failed to Show Treasurer did not Satisfy the “Any Notice” Requirement of the Statute or that Due Process was Otherwise Deprived.

Plaintiffs/Appellants are relying on an argument that is fundamentally unsound and requires a purposeful misinterpretation of the law to be found credible. The Tax Foreclosure Act and the due process requirements of the Constitution have been met, as determined repeatedly, but Plaintiffs/Appellants continue to argue that the Treasurer must prove that Crooked **actually**

received the mailed notice of the foreclosure proceedings against the Subject Property. This standard is completely implausible and impractical, as any taxpayer would now have the option to avoid foreclosure by doing as little as refusing or failing to sign for certified mail sent to them and then denying receipt of the mail.

However, it is not simply the position of Defendants/Appellees that the standard being advocated by the Plaintiffs/Appellants is flawed. The very cases addressing the Tax Foreclosure Act and Constitutional due process upon which Plaintiffs/Appellants rely make it clear that Defendants/Appellees satisfied the actions required of them. The case law demonstrates the Plaintiffs/Appellants' argument is flawed. The primary case the Plaintiffs/Appellants rely upon, *Perfecting Church*, explicitly held that "[d]ue process does not require that a property owner receive actual notice before the government may take his property." *Wayne County Treasurer v. Perfecting Church*, 478 Mich. 1, 9; 732 N.W.2d 458 (2007), citing *Jones v Flowers*, 547 U.S. 220, 226; 126 S. Ct. 1708 (2006). By arguing an interpretation of *Perfecting Church* that actual notice to a property owner is required under the Tax Foreclosure Act, the Plaintiffs/Appellants are asking this Court to deliberately misread its own holding in that case and the proposition for which it stands.

A. Compliance with Statutory Notice Requirements and Due Process Notice Requirements

This case is predicated upon the proper interpretation of MCL 211.78l. It provides in relevant part:

“(1) If a judgment for foreclosure is entered under section 78k and all existing recorded and unrecorded interests in a parcel of property are extinguished as provided in section 78k, the owner of any extinguished recorded or unrecorded interest in that property who claims that he or she did not receive any notice required under this act¹¹ shall not bring an action for possession of the property against any subsequent owner, but

¹¹ The “Act” refers to the Tax Foreclosure Act; MCL 211.78 et seq.

may only bring an action to recover monetary damages as provided in this section.

(2) The court of claims has original and exclusive jurisdiction in any action to recover monetary damages under this section.” MCL 211.78l(1)(2). [*emphasis added*]

The question becomes what is the “any notice” that is “required” to be given to Plaintiffs/Appellants “under this Act”? In reviewing this question, the Treasurer agrees that giving meaning to all words of the statute and the intent of the legislature is the proper analysis. In order to determine what notice is required by the Act, one must first refer to the Act itself. What was intended by the legislature in adopting the Act? Although Plaintiffs/ Appellants profess in the Application for Leave to Appeal to be following this line of inquiry, they wholly fail to cite or even discuss the most obvious indicator of the legislative’s intention when adopting MCL 211.78l. The legislature directly stated its intention and that statement is found in the provisions of MCL 211.78(2) which state:

“(2) It is the intent of the legislature that the provisions of this act relating to the return, forfeiture, and foreclosure of property for delinquent taxes satisfy the minimum requirements of due process required under the constitution of this state and the constitution of the United States but that those provisions do not create new rights beyond those required under the state constitution of 1963 or the constitution of the United States. The failure of this state or a political subdivision of this state to follow a requirement of this act relating to the return, forfeiture, or foreclosure of property for delinquent taxes shall not be construed to create a claim or cause of action against this state or a political subdivision of this state unless the minimum requirements of due process accorded under the state constitution of 1963 or the constitution of the United States are violated.” [*emphasis added*]

As a result of the foregoing, it is clear that “any notice required under this Act”, as stated in MCL 211.78l(1), which gives rise to a claim or cause of action under MCL 211.78l was intended by the legislature to be limited to the notice required by the due process clauses of the Michigan Constitution of 1963 and the U.S. Constitution. (See: MCL 211.78(2)).

MCL 211.781 and MCL 211.78(2) must be read together in order to give them their full meaning. As referenced above, when the plain and ordinary meaning of the language employed is clear, then judicial construction is neither necessary nor permitted, and unless explicitly defined, every word or phrase should be accorded its plain and ordinary meaning, considering the context in which the words are used. *Yudashkin*, 247 Mich. App. at 649-650. It is abundantly clear that the statements made in MCL 211.781 and 211.78(2) limit the claims that can be made by Plaintiffs/Appellees in this case to those regarding their receipt of due process of law under both the Michigan Constitution and the United States Constitution.

This Court has previously held that in order to determine what notice is required by the Act, one must first determine what notice is required by the due process clauses of the Michigan Constitution and the United States Constitution. *In re Petition of Wayne County Treasurer (Perfecting Church)*, 478 Mich 1 at 10 (2007). The due process clause of the Michigan Constitution is to be construed to be as identical to and not more broadly read than the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution. See: *In re Wayne Co Treasurer (Westhaven Manor)*, 265 Mich App 285 (2005) and cases cited therein. This Court in the case of *Republic Bank v Genesee Co Treasurer*, 471 Mich 732 (2005) has indicated that this notice must be sufficient to meet constitutional standards and went on to describe the kind of notice that would satisfy due process requirements:

“Personal service is not required. Notice by mail is adequate. Mailed notice must be directed to an address reasonably calculated to reach the person entitled to notice. Mailing should be registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, both because of the greater care in delivery and because of the record of mailing and receipt or non-receipt provided. Such would be the efforts of one desirous of actually informing another might reasonably employ. If the state exerts reasonable efforts, then failure to effectuate actual notice would not preclude foreclosure of the statutory lien and indefeasible vesting of title on expiration of the redemption period.” 396 Mich at 211. [emphasis added] [citing *Dow v Michigan*, 396 Mich 192 (1976)]

The “reasonably calculated to reach the person” standard has also been used repeatedly by this Court, (see *Sidun v Wayne County Treasurer*, 481 Mich 503 (2008); *Smith v Cliffs on the Bay Condo Ass’n*, 463 Mh 420 (2000) and *Dow*, supra). This due process standard has also been enunciated in repeated federal cases too numerous to cite and follows similar language found in the case of *Mullane v Central Hanover Bank & Trust*, 339S 306 (1958) which noted that notices must be such that they are reasonably calculated to appraise a Plaintiff of the hearings.

This Court has previously indicated that reliance on an address provided in a mortgage recorded by the bank’s predecessor in interest was sufficient to provide due process notice, even though that bank subsequently merged with another bank who wished the notice be sent to a different office¹². *Republic Bank v Genesee Co Treasurer*, 471 Mich 732 (2005), see also *First Nat’l Bank of Chicago v Dept of Treasury*, 485 Mich 980 (2009). Following that same notion, the tax foreclosure statute provides for certain searches, notices and postings, as well as publication, with the searches set forth in the statute being (MCL 211.78i(6)) designed to determine those persons with an interest in the property and their addresses so as to obtain addresses reasonably calculated to appraise those owners of a property interest, of the show cause hearing, and the foreclosure hearing as provided for in MCL 211.78j and MCL 211.78k. MCL 211.78i(2).

Far from treating the Act as a “dead letter” or reading out terms as being surplusage, the rulings on this matter have been consistent with the plain language of the law and the legislative intent behind it. The case law and the statute itself are very clear. The Treasurer must take certain actions to satisfy the Tax Foreclosure Act regarding notice. Constitutional due process guarantees may require that additional steps be taken to attempt to notify a property owner that

¹² In this case, the Treasurer relied upon a “send tax bills” address for Crooked set forth in the Deed and the same address for Crooked in a recorded Real Estate Agreement.

they are in danger of losing their property, such as sending by ordinary mail, which was done in this case. See: *Jones v Flowers, supra*. Further, even if the Treasurer were to fail to take one of the various actions provided for by the Tax Foreclosure Act, the Treasurer could still meet the requirements of both state and due process. *Republic Bank v Genesee Co Treasurer, supra*; MCL 211.78(2). Neither the Tax Foreclosure Statute nor due process requires that the Treasurer prove that Crooked “actually received” all of the notices provided to property owners before they lose their property for failure to pay property taxes as the Plaintiffs/Appellants would argue in this case, as doing so would be impossible in the face of even the unsubstantiated and not credible protestations of the tax payer and the failure to sign for the certified notices.

B. Plaintiffs/Appellants Failed to demonstrate that they did not Receive Any Notice under the Act.

In their Application for Leave to Appeal, Plaintiffs/Appellants argue that MCL 211.78l was intended to provide a damages remedy for owners who had not actually received notice of the foreclosure of their property and provides for a cause of action or claim that goes well beyond being afforded due process. Even if this analysis of MCL 211.78l is correct, in the face of the contrary provisions of MCL 211.78(2) and case law, Plaintiffs/Appellants’ argument relies almost solely on the testimony of Mr. Antipov that Plaintiffs/Appellants did not receive any notice of the tax foreclosure proceedings as required under the Tax Foreclosure Act. Though this is clearly a self-serving statement, it is still worth addressing. As stated previously, the Tax Foreclosure Statute standard and the due process requirements are one in the same; that which is necessary to satisfy due process. MCL 211.78(2); *Republic Bank v Genesee Co Treasurer, supra*. The Treasurer in this case showed that she gave the notices required by statute (see Exhibit 7). Because of this prima facie showing, it becomes Plaintiff/Appellants’ burden to demonstrate they did not receive “any notice” required under the Tax Foreclosure Act. While as

stated previously, proof of “actual receipt” is not required under the law to satisfy due process, (*Dow v Michigan*, 396 Mich 192 (1976)), here, Plaintiffs/Appellants completely failed to satisfy their burden in showing lack of notice, barely even attempting to do so. The testimony and evidence which was presented to Court of Claims demonstrated that adequate notice had been given (see: Exhibit 7), and the evidence was not rebutted in any meaningful way.

Pursuant to the unopposed motion of the Treasurer, the joint Court of Claims exhibits of the parties, *Exhibits J-1* through *J-20* were admitted into evidence at the commencement of trial in this matter. (See Exhibit 7) As can be seen from the following paragraphs, these admitted exhibits in the Court of Claims, along with the testimony of Mr. Spaulding and Ms. Shannon Jackson, uncontrovertibly demonstrated several key facts that the Plaintiffs/Appellants conveniently ignore in order to make their case to the Court.

The Treasurer, through her authorized representative Title Check, conducted a search of the records of the County Register of Deeds (See Exhibit 7, *J-3*) the Treasurer, the local Assessor and the local Treasurer, in order to determine owners of a property interest entitled to notice under the Act (MCL 211.78c(1) and (6)). Plaintiff/Appellants presented no testimony or evidence that the local record search was not done or that it contained any address for 2 Crooked Creek, LLC other than that set forth above. As per MCL 211.78f(1), Title Check sent the statutorily required Notice of Forfeiture by certified mail with regard to the 2011 real property taxes related to the Subject Property on or about January 14, 2013. (See Exhibit 7, *J-4*).

Title Check’s president, Mr. Spaulding, testified that it was subsequently learned that the street address and zip code in the address provided by 2 Crooked Creek, LLC on the Deed and in the Real Estate Agreement was in fact located in Oak Brook, Illinois, and not in Chicago, Illinois. However, because the zip code provided was the Oak Brook zip code, the notice was

taken by the postal service to and attempted delivery made at the correct Oak Brook address. When the certified mailing was not claimed, it was returned to Title Check on February 15, 2013 as “unclaimed.” Title Check also took a number of steps and sent multiple additional notices in an effort to notify Plaintiffs/Appellants that the danger of losing the Subject Property due to delinquent property taxes from 2011 was imminent. Title Check further corrected their information so that all future notices reflected the city in Crooked’s address as Oak Brook and not Chicago. (TR 49, 74, 86).

The Treasurer prepared a Certificate of Forfeiture, (MCL 211.78g), and that Certificate of Forfeiture was recorded with the Cass County Register of Deeds on April 12, 2013. The previously conducted title search showed the previously recorded Certificate of Forfeiture (see Exhibit 7, J-5). On or about May 5, 2013, Title Check sent, by regular first class mail, a Notice of Inspection Deadline, stating that the Subject Property would be inspected and notice would be posted, beginning June 17, 2013. (See Exhibit 7, J-7). On June 18, 2013 pursuant to MCL 211.78i(3), Katelin Makay (“Ms. Makay”) completed a form regarding the inspection of the Subject Property and posted a copy of the Show Cause Hearing and Judicial Foreclosure Hearing notice on a window adjacent to the front door of the residence and took a picture of the posting that day. (See Exhibit 7, J-8).

On or about October 30, 2013, Title Check sent another notice by first class mail to the Oak Brook, Illinois address, indicating that the Subject Property was scheduled for publication between December of 2013 and February of 2014, and again indicating that the Subject Property was in the process of foreclosure for unpaid 2011 and/or previous years’ property taxes. (See Exhibit 7, J-9). As per MCL 211.78i(2), on December 20, 2013, a notice of the Show Cause Hearing and Judicial Foreclosure Hearing was sent by Title Check via certified mail to the Oak

Brook, Illinois address of Crooked. (See Exhibit 7, J-10). On December 20, 2013, a copy of the same notice of Show Cause Hearing and Judicial Foreclosure Hearing was also sent by Title Check via first class mail to the same Oak Brook, Illinois address. (See Exhibit 7, J-11).

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